2010-CA 01438

ATTORNEYS FOR THE APPELLANT CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the persons listed below have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. The Estate of Samuel A. Farr, Deceased, Appellant;
- Ramona Walls, CPA, Executrix of the Last Will and Testament of Samuel A. Farr, Deceased;
- 3. John P. Fox, Attorney for the Estate of Samuel A. Farr, Deceased, Appellant;
- 4. Mark N. Halbert, Attorney for the Estate of Samuel A. Farr, Deceased, Appellant;
- 5. Nancy Wirick, Appellee; and,

INTRODUCTION

This case comes before this Court on an adverse ruling by the Chancery Court of Chickasaw County granting summary judgment to Nancy Wirick¹ and thus invalidating a will and codicil executed by her father, Samuel A. Farr, Deceased. The will and codicil at issue identify one witness as an "attesting witness" and also contain a certification by a notary public. The issue on this appeal involves whether summary judgment invalidating a will is appropriate where genuine issues of material fact exist concerning the number of witnesses who attested to the will and codicil. The Chancellor relied on the form of the will; however, the evidence shows that at least two witnesses may have been present when the will and codicil were executed and signed the documents in the presence of the testator. Under Mississippi law, only two credible witnesses are required to attest to the validity of a will. Whether or not both witnesses sign in a space provided for attesting witnesses or elsewhere on the will or codicil should not be determinative of compliance with state law. This is the question before the Court.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Whether summary judgment was proper where the will and codicil were signed by two (2) witnesses.
- (2) Whether the Chancery Court's determination that Nancy Wirick is the sole heir at law should be set aside.

Appellant inadvertently misspelled the last name of Nancy Farr Wirick in the Notice of Appeal. "Wyrick" is incorrect, and the Appellee should be referred to as "Nancy Farr Wirick."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. The Will and Codicil of Samuel A. Farr

Samuel A. Farr died of natural causes on December 29, 2009. Samuel A. Farr died having only one child, Nancy Farr Wirick ("Wirick"). Prior to his death, Samuel A. Farr executed a Last Will and Testament dated April 1, 2009 ("the will") which created a private trust. 1:6-8. According to the will, Samuel A. Farr devised and bequeathed all of his property to his Executrix or Executor "in Trust for the use and benefit of my child, Nancy." 1:6. The will appointed Ramona Walls, a certified public accountant in Houston, Mississippi, as the Executrix. *Id*. The will further directed the Executrix to pay to Wirick the sum of \$2,000 per month, subject to annual cost of living increases. *Id*. The Executrix was given complete authority to manage the trust property at her sole discretion. 1:6-7.

The will consists of two (2) pages and an "Affidavit of Witnesses." 1:6-8. The first two pages contain the will and an attestation clause. 1:6-7. Both of these pages are signed by Samuel A. Farr indicating that he signed the will on April 1, 2009. *Id.* The first two pages also contain the signature of Roger McGrew as a witness to the will. On the second page, the will contains an "Attestation Clause" which states as follows:

The foregoing instrument was, on the day of the year therein set forth, published and declared by Samuel A. Farr to be his Last Will and Testament in our presence and we, at his request, have subscribed our names as witnesses in his presence and in the presence of each other.

1:7. The "Attestation Clause" is signed only by one witness, Roger McGrew. Roger McGrew also is the only witness who signed the "Affidavit of Witnesses," which contains the following language:

This day personally appeared before me, the undersigned authority in and for said State and County, Chickasaw and Mississippi, respectively, whose names appear as subscribing witnesses to the foregoing and attached instrument of writing, who after having been duly sworn, say on oath that on the 1st day of April, 2009, in their

presence, Samuel A. Farr signed his name thereto, and in their presence described the same to be his Last Will and Testament; that at his request, in their presence, and in the presence of each other, the said affiants subscribed their names thereto as witnesses to its execution and publication; that the said Samuel A. Farr, on the 1st day of April, 2009, was of lawful age, was of sound and disposing mind and memory, and there was no evidence of undue influence.

1:8. The "Affidavit of Witnesses" also contains the signature of a certified notary public, Carolyn Davis, whose signature is dated the same day as the execution of the will. *Id.*

On April 23, 2009, Samuel A. Farr executed a Codicil to Last Will and Testament of Samuel A. Farr ("the codicil"). 1:9-10. The codicil provides for any funds remaining in trust following the death of Nancy Wirick to be divided equally between Prospect Methodist Church and Prospect Methodist Church Cemetery Fund. 1:9. The codicil also states that the will was executed "in the presence of Roger McGrew, who signed the Will and Testament as witness" *Id.* Otherwise, the codicil is in similar form to the will in that it contains an "Attestation Clause" and "Affidavit of Witnesses" nearly identical to the will. 1:9-10. However, on this occasion, the "Attestation Clause" and "Affidavit of Witnesses" are both signed by John P. Fox, Samuel A. Farr's attorney. *Id.* The "Affidavit of Witnesses" to the codicil is also signed by a certified notary public, Carmen O. Booth, and dated on the same day as the execution of the codicil. 1:10.

II. Course of the Proceedings

On January 13, 2010, a Petition for Probate of Will and for Letters Testamentary was filed on behalf of the Estate of Samuel A. Farr, Deceased ("the Estate"), along with a copy of the will and codicil. 1:15-19. The petition states that the will was executed by Samuel A. Farr in the presence of Roger McGrew, and the codicil was executed by Samuel A. Farr in the presence of John P. Fox. 1:15. On the same date, the Chancery Clerk issued an Order of Probate which states that the will and codicil were properly witnessed, 1:11, along with Letters Testamentary, 1:13. On January 22, 2010, Nancy Farr Wirick filed her Petition to Contest Last Will and Testament and Codicil of Samuel A. Farr, for Declaratory Judgment, for Determination of Heirs and for Other Relief. 1:20. In her petition, Wirick argued that both the will and codicil were only attested to by one witness and, therefore, the will and codicil did not comply with Mississippi Code Section 91-5-1, which requires that the will and codicil be attested to by two (2) credible witnesses. 1:21-22. Wirick also alleged that her father lacked testamentary capacity and the will and codicil were the subject of undue influence. 1:23.

The parties thereafter engaged in various pretrial activities including the propounding of discovery. On February 22, 2010, Wirick propounded interrogatories, requests for production of documents, and request for admission to the Estate of Samuel A. Farr, Deceased. 1:39-48. On March 10, 2010, the Estate responded to Wirick's requests for admissions. 1:51-53. The following requests and responses are pertinent to this appeal:

Request for Admission No. 1: Please admit that there was only one attesting witness to the Last Will and Testament of Samuel A. Farr, deceased.

Response: Denied.

Request for Admission No. 2: Please admit that there was only one attesting witness to the Codicil to the Last Will and Testament of Samuel A. Farr, deceased.

Response: Denied.

Request for Admission No. 3: Please admit that the Last Will and Testament of Samuel A. Farr, deceased, does not meet the statutory requirements of 91-5-1 of the Mississippi Code Annotated.

Response: Denied.

Request for Admission No. 4: Please admit that the Codicil to the Last Will and Testament of Samuel A. Farr, deceased, does not meet the statutory requirements of 91-5-1 of the Mississippi Code Annotated.

Response: Denied.

Request for Admission No. 9: Please admit that § 91-5-1 of the Mississippi Code Annotated requires two attesting witnesses in order for any will or codicil to be valid.

* * *

Response: Denied (there was more than one witness).

1:51-52.

Also, on March 10, 2010, the Estate filed a Response to Petition to Contest Will. 1:55-57. In its response, the Estate asserted that the will and codicil were notarized and that the notaries were also witnesses. 1:56.

On February 12, 2010, the Chancellor conducted a telephonic conference with all counsel concerning Wirick's request for a trial date and a temporary restraining order to preserve Estate assets. 1:49. Pursuant to that conference, the Chancellor entered an Order Setting Cause for Hearing, Enjoining Disposal of Estate Assets and Granting Other Relief. 1:49-50. Pertinent to the issues on this appeal, the order set a return date for Wirick's petition contesting the will and codicil for April 21, 2010. 1:49 (¶ II). The order directed that process be issued by Wirick to all interested parties returnable to April 21, 2010. *Id.* The order explained the purpose of the April 21st setting as follows:

This return date is set for the purpose of having all necessary parties before the Court. Trial on the merits will not be held on April 21, 2010 and counsel shall not be required to be present for said hearing if it is not convenient for them. The Court will, on April 21, 2010, enter an order resetting the matter for a hearing on the merits at a later date and time.

1:50. Thereafter, Wirick perfected service on Prospect Methodist Church and provided service on any unknown heirs by publication.

On April 21, 2010, the Chancellor entered an order, prepared and presented by counsel for Wirick, stating that the case was before the court on Wirick's Petition to Contest Last Will and

Testament and Codicil of Samuel A. Farr, For Declaratory Judgment and For Other Relief. 1:60-61. Pursuant to the Chancellor's prior order, counsel for the Estate was not present on April 21, 2010. Nevertheless, the Chancellor entered an order finding that service of process was made on all necessary parties, service of process by publication was made for the unknown heirs at law, and Prospect Methodist Church, a beneficiary of the will and codicil, was served with process and failed to file an answer to the petition or appear on April 21, 2010. 1:60 (¶¶ I and II). In the same order, the Chancellor declared that all persons other than Wirick were precluded from making a claim to the Estate and that Wirick was the sole heir at law of Samuel A. Farr, deceased. 1:60-61 (¶ III). The order also set a hearing on all motions for July 16, 2010, and a hearing on the merits for August 12, 2010. 1:61 (¶¶ IV and V).

Thereafter, a dispute arose between the parties concerning the Chancellor's order determining Wirick to be the sole heir at law. Counsel for the Estate filed a Motion to Set Aside Order Dated April 21, 2010. 1:67-68. In this motion, the Estate asserted that the April 21, 2010 order was entered without any notice to him and that he would have appeared on behalf of Prospect Methodist Church as a beneficiary of the will and codicil. 1:67. Wirick responded to the Estate's motion by stating that attempts were made to contact counsel for the Estate prior to the entry of any order, but such attempts were unsuccessful. 1:81. Wirick contended that an order was necessary to continue the case to another date and preserve process on all necessary parties. 1:82.

On June 28, 2010, Wirick filed a Consolidated Motion for Summary Judgment and Memorandum Brief in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment. 1:88-96. Relying on the will and codicil alone, Wirick argued that the will and codicil were not attested by two (2) or more credible witnesses in the presence of the testator, as required by Mississippi Code Section 91-5-1, and that both documents were invalid as a result of this defect. 1:92-94.

On July 16, 2010, the Chancery Court heard oral argument as to Wirick's summary judgment motion. At the hearing, the attorney for the Estate argued that the notaries public for both the will and the codicil also acted as subscribing and attesting witnesses. 3:11. The Estate also submitted certificates from each of the notaries public to the will and the codicil stating that they acted in the capacity of a notary public and a subscribing witness to the will and the codicil. 3:10-11. The certificates were filed with the chancery clerk as Exhibit P-1. With regard to the will, the certificate stated as follows:

I, Carolyn A. Davis, do hereby certify that I witnessed the signature of Samuel A. Farr to his Last Will and Testament on April 1, 2009, at his express instances and request, in his presence, and in the presence of Roger McGrew as a subscribing witness.

Exhibit P-1. The certificate was signed by Carolyn A. Davis. A second certificate referred to the codicil and stated:

I, Carmen O. Booth, do hereby certify that I witnessed the signature of Samuel A. Farr to a Codicil to his Last Will and Testament on April 23, 2009, at his express instance and request, in his presence, and in the presence of John P. Fox as a subscribing witness.

Exhibit P-1. This certificate was signed by Carmen O. Booth, but not notarized. After a discussion concerning whether or not the certificates were timely filed with the court, the Chancellor ordered that the certificates be marked as a composite exhibit for identification. 3:13-15.

At the close of the hearing, the chancellor ordered that Wirick was entitled to summary judgment based on his finding that the will was invalid and Samuel A. Farr died intestate. 3:15-16. On July 21, 2010, a Judgment was entered in favor of Wirick. 2:159. The Judgment stated that the will and codicil are "invalid as a matter of law for failure to comply with the statutory requirements of § 91-5-1." 2:159-160. The Judgment also contains a finding that Samuel A. Farr died intestate and the Chancellor affirmed the prior order entered on April 21, 2010 declaring that Wirick is the

sole heir at law. 2:160. On July 27, 2010, the Estate filed a motion for reconsideration, 2:161, which was denied, 2:164. Thereafter, the Estate timely filed its Notice of Appeal. 2:165.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Based on the pleadings and oral argument, the Chancery Court of Chickasaw County held that the will and codicil of Samuel A. Farr was not duly executed in compliance with Mississippi Code Section 91-5-1. The will and codicil contain signatures of one "attesting" witness and a notary public. The Chancellor found that the will and codicil was not attested to by at least two (2) credible witnesses. However, the record establishes the existence of a genuine issue of material fact as to due execution. A trial on the merits should have proceeded as to whether the notaries public witnessed the signature of Samuel A. Farr and signed the documents in his presence.

After finding that the will and codicil were not duly executed, the Chancellor ordered that Samuel A. Farr died intestate and that Wirick was the sole heir. Should the Court reverse and remand this matter for trial, the trial court's determination of heirs based on intestacy should likewise be set aside for further proceedings in the court below.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

This matter comes to the Court on an order granting summary judgment to Nancy Wirick which invalidates a will and codicil signed by Samuel A. Farr, deceased. Under Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 56(c), summary judgment may be awarded "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there are no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." On appeal regarding a grant or denial of summary judgment under Rule 56(c), this Court applies a *de novo* standard and examines the evidentiary materials on record with the lower court. Estate of Thomas, 962 So.2d 141, 142 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007)(citing McMillan v. Rodriguez, 823 So.2d 1173, 1176-77 (Miss. 2002)). Consistent with Rule 56, the record evidence "must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion has been made." McMillan, 823 So. 2d at 1177. If there are genuine issues of material fact necessitating a trial of the matter, such as when one party swears to one version of facts which are controverted by the other party, the reversal of summary judgment is required. Id. A de novo standard of review similarly applies to legal issues in a will contest. Estate of Griffith, 30 So.3d 1190, 1193 (Miss. 2010)(citing In re Last Will & Testament of Carney, 758 So.2d 1017, 1020 (Miss. 2000)).

II. The Chancellor Erred in Granting Summary Judgment as to the Validity of the Will and Codicil.

The Chancellor's decision to grant summary judgment to Wirick and invalidate the will and codicil was predicated on the absence of a dispute concerning the existence of a second subscribing witness. However, the record demonstrates that a classic issue of fact existed concerning the attesting witnesses. The documents are sufficient alone to create a genuine issue of material fact

concerning whether the will and the codicil comply with Mississippi Code Section 91-5-1. The will and the codicil, which constituted the only evidence presented by Wirick in support of her motion, contain the signatures of two witnesses. The chancery court's decision to choose one interpretation of the documents and find that the notary public was not an attesting witness chooses one interpretation of the documents over another alternative and conflicting interpretation. Based on the only evidence presented in support of summary judgment, the chancery court erred in granting summary judgment. Instead, this matter should have been set for a hearing on the merits.

A. Evidence that two witnesses signed the will and codicil is sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact.

There is no question that Mississippi law requires non-holographic wills and codicils to be signed by the testator, or by some other person in his presence and by his express direction, and such documents "shall be attested by two (2) or more credible witnesses in the presence of the testator." Miss. Code Ann. § 91-5-1 (Rev. 2004). Therefore, if two witnesses signed the will and codicil at issue in this case, then a genuine issue of material fact exists as to compliance with the statute.

Most recently, in *Estate of Griffith*, 30 So.3d 1190 (Miss. 2010), the Mississippi Supreme Court considered the requirements of § 91-5-1. The precise issue in *Estate of Griffith* was the knowledge held by the subscribing witnesses and whether such knowledge was sufficient to satisfy the requirement of attestation. While the Judgment entered in this case does not turn on the knowledge of the subscribing witnesses, the Mississippi Supreme Court's discussion in *Estate of Griffith* is helpful.

To determine the meaning of "attested" in § 91-5-1, the Mississippi Supreme Court turned to *Batchelor v. Estate of Powers*, 348 So.2d 776, 777 (Miss. 1977). *See Estate of Griffith*, 30 So.3d at 1193-94. In *Batchelor*, in considering the argument that an attesting witness need not actually sign the will, the Mississippi Supreme Court reviewed various definitions regarding attestation.

[T]he word "attest" is defined in Webster's New International Dictionary (2d ed. 1950) as (1) to bear witness to; to certify; to affirm to be true or genuine; specif., to witness and authenticate by signing as a witness. The word "attestation" is defined as the formal authentication of an act or instrument by a subscribing witness or an official.

Ballentine's Law Dictionary (2d ed. 1948) gives the following definitions of the term "attest":

Attestation. The act of witnessing the actual execution of a paper and signing one's name as a witness to that fact.

Attesting witness. A person who signs his name on a document as a witness to the act of another in affixing his signature to the document.

Moreover, it appears to be the general rule although there is some authority to the contrary, that the word "attestation" includes no only the mental act of observation, but also the manual one of subscription.

Attested. The usual meaning of the word includes not only the mere mental act of the witness in observing the execution of the instrument, but also his manual subscription of his name as a witness thereto.

Id. at 776-77 (citations omitted). All this is to say that an "attesting" witnesses must observe the testator and sign the document. *Estate of Griffith*, 30 So.3d at 1193. The *Batchelor* court recited this simple statement: "It is sufficient, if it appear that they signed their names as witnesses to its execution, and that they be able to state, when called to prove the will, that the requisites of the statute were observed." 348 So.2d at 777 (citing *Fatheree v. Lawrence*, 33 Misc. 585 (1857)).

The purpose of "attestation" has been explained as follows:

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