#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

# THE ESTATE OF SAMUEL A. FARR, DECEASED

#### APPELLANT

VS.

### CAUSE NUMBER 2010-TS-01438

### NANCY WIRICK

APPELLEE

#### APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF CHICKASAW COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE, NANCY WIRICK**

Stephen T. Bailey (Miss. Bar No. EVANS & BAILEY, PLLC 359 North Broadway Street Post Office Box 7326 Tupelo, Mississippi 38802-7326 (662) 844-6040 / Telephone (662) 844-8333 / Facsimile

**COUNSEL FOR THE APPELLEE** 

### **ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED**

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

# THE ESTATE OF SAMUEL A. FARR, DECEASED

#### APPELLANT

VS.

#### NANCY WIRICK

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

At the close of the hearing on the summary judgment motion filed by Nancy, the trial court correctly concluded that there were no genuine issues of material fact present in the case and that Nancy was, therefore, entitled to a judgment, as a matter of law. A complete *de novo* 

<sup>66</sup> Record Excerpts of Appellee, Tab B, Pages 5-6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Court Reporter's Transcript, Pages 13-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> Brief of Appellant Samuel A. Farr, Pages 1-25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> Clerk's Papers, Pages 164-166.

review of the record will indicate that the purported Will and purported Codicil at issue in this matter clearly were not properly attested by at least two (2) credible witnesses as required by both Mississippi Code Annotated Section 91-5-1 (1972, as amended) and long-standing Mississippi case law. As such, both the purported Will and purported Codicil are invalid, as a matter of law. As a result, the trial court correctly further found that the decedent, therefore, died intestate and that Nancy was the sole heir at law of her father and his estate. Based upon the foregoing, the rulings of the trial court should be affirmed.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. Standard of Review.

The Mississippi Supreme Court and the Mississippi Court of Appeals apply a *de novo* standard of review concerning an appeal resulting from either the granting or denial of summary judgment by the lower court. *McMillan v. Rodriguez*, 823 So.2d 1173 (Miss. 2002); *O.W.O. Investments, Inc. v. Stone Investment Co.*, 32 So.3d 439 (Miss. 2010); and *Kulper v. Turnabine*, 20 So.3d 658 (Miss. 2009). A trial court must grant a motion for summary judgment "...if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the nonmoving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *M.R.C.P. 56(c).* 

In determining whether the trial court properly granted summary judgment, the appellate courts in Mississippi will view the facts and evidence before the lower court in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *McMillan v. Rodriguez*, 823 So.2d 1173 (Miss. 2002); *O.W.O. Investments, Inc. v. Stone Investment Co.*, 32 So.3d 439 (Miss. 2010); and *Kulper v. Turnabine*, 20 So.3d 658 (Miss. 2009). Summary judgment is appropriate where the nonmoving

-19-

party has failed to make a sufficient showing to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial. *Id.* Further, in order to withstand summary judgment, the nonmoving party must rebut such motion for the same with significant probative evidence showing that there are genuine issues for trial. *Borne v. Dunlop Tire Corp.*, 12 So.3d 565 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). Lastly, in reviewing the granting or denial of a summary judgment, the appellate court may only examine and analyze the evidence which was properly before the trial court at the time of the said motion and resulting decision. *Mitchell v. Nelson*, 830 So.2d 635 (Miss. 2002); and *Brocato v. Mississippi Publishers Corp.*, 503 So.2d (Miss. 1987).

Despite the stated *de novo* standard of review applicable in summary judgment appeals, it would also be important to note that in reviewing cases involving the contest of a purported Will or purported Codicil, it has long been established that chancellors have broad discretion and their findings should only be disturbed on appeal if the actions were "...manifestly wrong, constituted an abuse of discretion, or represented the application of an erroneous legal standard". *Estate of Grantham v. Roberts*, 609 So.2d 1220 (Miss. 1992); *In re: Estate of McQueen*, 918 So.2d 864 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). In those such cases, when a chancellor's findings are supported by substantial, credible evidence, a reversal should not be warranted. *Estate of Grubbs*, 753 So.2d 1043 (Miss. 2000). Therefore, even though the case at bar, as stated above, primarily surrounds the review of the granting of summary judgment, it is the position of the Appellee that this Court should also be mindful of the latitude normally granted to chancellors in making findings in the contest of a purported Will or purported Codicil.

#### II. The Purported Will and Purported Codicil were not Properly Executed.

As stated above, this case involves the review of the granting of summary judgment by the Chancery Court of Chickasaw County, Mississippi in finding that the purported Last Will and Testament of Samuel A. Farr and the purported Codicil to the Last Will and Testament of Samuel A. Farr, both of which are type-written, non-holographic documents, were not properly executed and were, therefore, invalid as a matter of law.<sup>69</sup> It is the position of the Appellee that this appeal and the review of the decision of the trial court for summary judgment, while certainly involving issues of law, will be largely fact-driven. In other words, the purported Will and purported Codicil are of primary importance in this matter and will, in effect, speak for themselves.

The long-standing case law in Mississippi is clear that a type-written, non-holographic purported Will or purported Codicil, in order to be valid, must be signed by the testator and must be attested by two (2) or more credible witnesses. *Batchelor v. Powers*, 348 So.2d 776 (Miss. 1977); and *In re: Estate of Thomas*, 962 So.2d 141 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). To that end, Mississippi Code Annotated Section 91-5-1 (1972, as amended) also provides, as follows:

Every person eighteen (18) years of age or older, being of sound and disposing minds, shall have power, by last will and testament, or codicil in writing, to devise all the estate, right, title, and interest in possession, reversion, or remainder, which he or she hath, or at the tie of his or her death shall have, of, in, or to lands, tenements, hereditaments, or annuities, or rents charged upon issuing out of then, or goods and chattels, and personal state of any description whatever, provided such last will and testament, or codicil, be signed by the testator or testatrix, or by some other person in his or her presence and by his or her express direction. <u>Moreover, if not wholly written and subscribed by himself</u> or herself, it shall be attested by two (2) or more credible witnesses in the presence of the testator or testatrix. (Emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Record Excerpts of Appellee, Tab B, Pages 5-6.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has examined the statutory meaning of "attestation," as contemplated in Mississippi Code Annotated Section 91-5-1, to include "...not only the mental act of observation, <u>but also the manual one of subscription</u>". *Batchelor v. Powers*, 348 So.2d 776 (Miss. 1977); *In re: Estate of Thomas*, 962 So.2d 141 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007); and *In re: Estate of Griffith*, 2008-IA-01557-SCT (MSSC) (emphasis added). Therefore, in order for a purported Will or purported Codicil to be valid, it must not only be witnessed by two (2) or more credible persons, but those witnesses must also attest to the Will or Codicil in the presence of the testator. *Id.* Otherwise, as in the case at bar, the purported Will or purported Codicil is invalid, as a matter of law. *Id.* 

As stated previously herein, the purported Will and purported Codicil at issue in this case clearly state the length of each such document at the bottom each page, the purported Will being two (2) total pages in length and the purported Codicil being one (1) total page in length.<sup>70</sup> The first page of the purported Will, which is titled at the bottom as "Page One of Two Pages of the Last Will and Testament of Samuel A. Farr," contains the alleged signature of Roger McGrew on one of two lines labeled "Witnesses."<sup>71</sup> The second line labeled "Witnesses" is blank.<sup>72</sup> Other than the purported signatures of Roger McGrew and the decedent, Samuel A. Farr, no other signatures or any other mention or notation of any other purported attesting witness is contained on this page.<sup>73</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Record Excerpts of Appellee, Tab C, Pages 7-8; Tab E, Page 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Record Excerpts of Appellee, Tab C, Page 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> Record Excerpts of Appellee, Tab C, Page 8.

The second page of the purported Will, which is titled at the bottom as "Page Two and the Last Page of the Last Will and Testament of Samuel A. Farr," contains the alleged signature of Roger McGrew on one of two lines labeled "Witnesses" as contained under the paragraph heading "Attestation Clause."<sup>74</sup> The second line labeled "Witnesses" is blank.<sup>75</sup> Other than the purported signatures of Roger McGrew and the decedent, Samuel A. Farr, no other signatures or any other mention or notation of any other purported attesting witness is contained on this page.<sup>76</sup>

The purported Codicil, as stated previously, is one (1) page in length and is titled at the bottom as "Page One and the Last Page of the Codicil to the Last Will and Testament of Samuel A. Farr."<sup>77</sup> The document contains two (2) signature lines which are labeled "Witnesses," one of which has been signed by John P. Fox and the other of which is blank.<sup>78</sup> Similarly, the document contains a labeled "attestation clause" which has two (2) signature lines labeled "Witnesses" and two (2) corresponding lines labeled "Addresses."<sup>79</sup> Again, only the signature of John P. Fox and his corresponding address have been completed, with the remaining witness signature line and corresponding address line both being blank.<sup>80</sup> Other than the purported signatures of John P. Fox and the decedent, Samuel A. Farr, no other signatures or any other mention or notation of

<sup>74</sup> Id.

<sup>75</sup> Id.

<sup>76</sup> Id.

<sup>78</sup> Id.

<sup>79</sup> Id.

<sup>80</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Record Excerpts of Appellee, Tab E, Page 10.

any other purported attesting witness is contained on this page.<sup>81</sup>

Although these documents will certainly speak for themselves, the fact that the purported Will and purported Codicil were each only attested by one (1) witness is confirmed on at least two (2) other independent occasions, as follow:

(1) The Petition for Probate of Will and for Letters Testamentary provides as follows: "That on April 1, 2009, the said Samuel A. Farr executed a Last Will and Testament in the presence of Roger McGrew, 101 CR 97, Houston, MS; and on April 23, 2009, the said Samuel A. Farr executed a Codicil to Last Will and Testament in the presence of John P. Fox, Houston, Mississippi 38851, attesting witnesses."<sup>82</sup>

(2) The wording of the purported Codicil itself provides as follows: "Whereas, I, Samuel A. Farr, on the 1<sup>st</sup> day of April, 2009, executed my Last Will and Testament in the presence of Roger McGrew, who signed said Will and Testament as witness..."<sup>83</sup>

Clearly, the documents purporting to be the Last Will and Testament of Samuel A. Farr and the Codicil to the Last Will and Testament of Samuel A. Farr were only attested by one (1) witness. As such, both documents fail to meet the minimum requirements of Mississippi Code Annotated Section 91-5-1 (1972, as amended) and long-standing Mississippi case law that the documents must be attested by two (2) or more credible witnesses in the presence of the testator or testatrix. Therefore, the ruling of the trial court that the purported Will and purported Codicil were invalid, as matter of law, should be affirmed by this Court on appeal.

<sup>81</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> Record Excerpts of Appellee, Tab G, Page 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> Record Excerpts of Appellee, Tab E, Page 10.

#### III. Summary Judgment is Appropriate in this Case.

Nancy filed her Consolidated Motion for Summary Judgment and Memorandum Brief in Support of Summary Judgment on or about June 28, 2010.<sup>84</sup> The said motion was based upon the fact that the purported Will and purported Codicil did not have at least two (2) attesting witnesses as required by law.<sup>85</sup> By order of the trial court, the summary judgment motion was set for hearing on July 16, 2010.<sup>86</sup>

The estate failed to file a formal written response to the summary judgment motion.<sup>87</sup> Instead, legal counsel for the estate simply appeared at the hearing and provided oral argument, while untimely attempting to introduce two (2) affidavits from the notaries public who allegedly witnessed the two "Affidavit of Witnesses," both separate and distinct documents from the purported Will and purported Codicil.<sup>88</sup> Upon timely objection by legal counsel for Nancy, the trial court correctly excluded the said affidavits as evidence and, instead, received them for identification purposes only.<sup>89</sup> As stated earlier, a simple review of the purported Will and Codicil clearly indicates that each had only one (1) attesting witness, thus creating the presumption that summary judgment was appropriate in that Nancy had met her burden of production, persuasion and proof that no genuine issues of material fact as to due execution were

. . .

- <sup>87</sup> Record Excerpts of Appellee, Tab A, Pages 1-4.
- <sup>88</sup> Court Reporter's Transcript, Pages 10-15.
- <sup>89</sup> Court Reporter's Transcript, Pages 13-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> Record Excerpts of Appellee, Tab L, Pages 30-38.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> Record Excerpts of Appellee, Tab K, Pages 28-29.

in existence.<sup>90</sup> However, instead of attempting to rebut this presumption, as stated earlier, the estate failed to file any formal written response whatsoever.<sup>91</sup> The Mississippi Appellate Courts have been clear in the past that the nonmoving party in a summary judgment motion may not simply rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleadings, but must file a response to the summary judgment motion, by affidavits or otherwise, setting forth specific facts showing that there are genuine issues for trial. Travis v. Stewart, 680 So.2d 214 (Miss. 1996); Milligan v. Milligan, 956 So.2d 1066 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007); and Magee v. Transcontinental Gas, 551 So.2d 182 (Miss. 1989). Similarly, the Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that where nothing is furnished in opposition to a summary judgment motion which provides merit to the claims of the nonmoving party, then summary judgment is proper, as provided in Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 56(e). Starnes v. City of Vardaman, 580 So.2d 733 (Miss. 1991); MISS CAL 204. Ltd. v. Upchurch, 465 So.2d 326 (Miss. 1985); Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 56(e). Based upon the showing of Nancy in her summary judgment motion that the said motion was warranted and the failure of the estate to file a written response or to produce any specific facts or evidence which would demonstrate genuine issues for trial, summary judgment was appropriate in the case at bar.

The estate, in its appeal brief, has argued that the proposed affidavits of Carmen O. Booth and Carolyn A. Davis, both entitled "Certificate of Subscribing Witness" (one of which had not even been notarized), somehow demonstrate triable issues of fact in this case which would defeat

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> Record Excerpts of Appellee, Tab C, Pages 7-8; Tab E, Page 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> Record Excerpts of Appellee, Tab A, Pages 1-4.

summary judgment.<sup>92</sup> The estate argues that these notaries public, who allegedly notarized the two Affidavit of Witnesses, which are separate and distinct documents from that of the purported Will and purported Codicil as clearly and specifically provided for in Section 91-7-9 of the Mississippi Code Annotated (1972, as amended), could somehow be construed as serving as the second attesting witness for each document as required by statute and case law as discussed previously herein.<sup>93</sup> However, this argument does not hold merit because the affidavits were not received by the trial court as evidence and, further, because the said affidavits would not be sufficient even if they had been timely produced and received by the trial court.

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